UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-21-2008

Gray v. Tri-Way Constr. Servs. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 34666

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

Plaintiff/Appellant Robert Gray ("Gray") sued the Defendants/Respondents Tri-Way Construction Services, Inc. ("Tri-Way") and Tri-Way's owners: Ray Allard ("Allard"), Gary Peterson, and Kathy Peterson (collectively the "Tri-Way Parties") based on their failure to pay Gray agreed upon compensation, 50% of the net profits for certain construction projects.¹

In 2004, Gray entered into negotiations with the Tri-Way Parties regarding starting up and running a division of Tri-Way in Arizona. After several months of negotiations, in late April or early May of 2004, Gray, Allard, and Gary Peterson agreed upon the terms of Gray's compensation. As agreed by the parties, Gray had his attorney and accountant draft an employment agreement that reflected, among other things, the previously agreed to compensation for Gray. On May 19, 2004, Gray emailed the agreement to Tri-Way. On May 21, 2004, Gray met Allard, Gary Peterson and Kathy Peterson to go over the terms of Gray's employment and to sign necessary paperwork relating to his employment ("May 21 Meeting"). The employment agreement on hand at the May 21 Meeting reflected that Gray was to receive a monthly salary of \$4,000 through 2004, a monthly salary of \$10,000 starting in 2005, and 50% of the net profits, before taxes for all projects that Gray managed.

At the May 21 Meeting, Kathy Peterson objected to Gray receiving \$10,000 per month in 2005. In response, the parties agreed to a modification: Gray's monthly salary would escalate to

¹ Gray's Complaint also alleged claims based on the Tri-Way Parties/Respondents failure to abide by a certain shareholder agreement. Gray is not appealing the dismissal of claims related to the shareholder agreement. Gray is not appealing the District Court's attorneys' fees award.

\$8,000 (instead of \$10,000) commencing on December 1, 2004 (instead of the previously agreed escalation date of January 2005). As for the payment of 50% of net profits, Kathy Peterson stated that the net profits should be calculated on a calendar year basis. The parties agreed to this method of calculation. The parties also agreed that the draft of the employment agreement would be revised by Tri-Way's attorney to reflect the modifications and to add a non-compete provision.

After starting up the Arizona Division of Tri-Way in June of 2004, Gray obtained and managed two significant projects which promptly generated \$1.2 million in revenue. In early June of 2004, a written agreement that had been revised by Tri-Way's attorney was circulated. The revised agreements reflected compensation terms in accordance with the agreements reached at the May 21 Meeting.

In September of 2004, three months into Gray's employment, Gary Peterson, acting on behalf of Tri-Way, sought to modify the terms of Gray's compensation relating to net profits. Peterson's proposed modification called for Gray's share to be calculated after taxes and called for a portion of Gray's share to stay with Tri-Way as retained earnings. After a period of discussion and after an attempt by Gray to buy out the Petersons' share of Tri-Way, Gray left Tri-Way in October of 2004. The parties never signed a written employment agreement.

Gray sued to recover the promised compensation. The Tri-Way Parties asserted counterclaims. The District Court granted the Tri-Way Parties motion for summary judgment. Now Gray appeals the summary judgment ruling.

B. Course of Proceedings.

On December 2, 2004, Gray filed a complaint and demand for jury trial against Tri-Way alleging claims of breach of contract, statutory claim for wages, promissory estoppel, equitable estoppel, and fraud. (CR 8).² On July 13, 2005, Tri-Way filed its Answer. (CR 18). On February 10, 2006, Gray filed his First Amended Complaint, adding Allard, Gary Peterson, and Kathy Peterson as parties and adding claims. (CR 24). On March 13, 2006, the Tri-Way Parties/Respondents filed an Answer and Counterclaim. (CR 39).

On August 2, 2006, the Tri-Way Parties filed a motion for summary judgment against Gray's claims. (CR 52). On August 2, 2006, Gray filed for summary judgment against the Tri-Way Parties' counterclaims. (CR 55). The Tri-Way Parties did not oppose summary judgment as to their claims for tortious interference, defamation, and quasi-estoppel. (CR 99-100).

On September 25, 2006, the District Court heard oral argument regarding summary judgment. (CR 65). During the summary judgment hearing, the District Court, sua sponte, ordered additional briefing regarding whether the statute of frauds barred Gray's claims. (CR 81). The District Court ordered the briefing despite the fact that the Tri-Way Parties had not raised the statute of frauds in any pleadings and had not raised the issue at summary judgment. (CR 81). By November 27, 2006, the parties completed their briefing regarding the statue of frauds. (CR 69).

² Clerk's Record on Appeal ("CR"). An "Exhibit" is a document identified in the Certificate of Exhibits at CR 179-180. "Ex." refers to an exhibit attached to an "Exhibit" identified in the Certificate of Exhibits.

On June 5, 2007, the District Court issued an order granting summary judgment for Tri-Way ("June 5 Order"). (CR 81). On June 14, 2007, the District Court granted summary judgment as to the Tri-Way Parties' counterclaims for tortious interference with prospective advantage, defamation, and quasi-estoppel. (CR 99).

On July 3, 2007, Gray moved for clarification of the June 5 Order, given the order failed to discuss five of Gray's claims. (CR 201). On August 7, 2007, the District Court issued an "Order clarifying June 5 Order and Correcting Order" ("August 7 Order"). (CR 105). The August 7 Order was silent as to Gray's claims for constructive fraud and quasi-estoppel. (CR 105).

On September 12, 2007, the District Court granted an Order allowing the stipulated dismissal of the Tri-Way Parties remaining counterclaims. (CR 122). On October 15, 2007, Gray timely appealed from the Order of Judgment entered on September 12, 2007. (CR 142; CR 125). On December 21, 2007, the District Court entered an Order granting the Tri-Way Parties recovery of costs and attorney fees. (CR 167). On January 18, 2008, Gray timely appealed the award of attorney fees. (CR 175).

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. At the Time of the Transaction, Gray was an Experienced and Highly Compensated Construction Professional.

In 1983, Gray graduated from the University of Idaho with a degree in landscape architecture. (CR 179, Exhibit 2, Ex. A (17:3-12)). After working for architectural firms in California, Gray joined Albertsons in 1987. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (17:15-18:5)). From 1987 until his departure from Albertsons in 2004, Gray held positions of increasing responsibility within Albertsons' construction department. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (20:3-40:13)). During his last five years at Albertsons, Gray served as Regional Construction Director. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (40:3-13; 43:15-17)). As Regional Construction Director, Gray supervised 10 to 12 construction supervisors and their related support personnel, oversaw construction activities in Utah, Arizona, Northern California, Oregon and Washington, and was accountable for a budget of "roughly \$200 million a year." (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (40:7-41:8)). As Regional Construction Director, Gray earned a base salary of \$108,000 plus stock options and annual bonus. (Exhibit 2. Ex. A (59:1-60:1)).

B. Tri-Way Construction Services

Tri-Way is a Washington corporation providing construction services. (CR 26 ¶¶ 11-14; CR 40(I)). Tri-Way has offices in Auburn, Washington and Vancouver, Washington. *Id.* At all times relevant to this dispute, Tri-Way has been owned by Gary Peterson, Kathy Peterson, and Ray Allard. (*Id.*).

While working at Albertsons, Gray interacted with Tri-Way on several occasions. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (61-65)). Moreover, Gray had known Tri-Way's owner Allard since the late 1980's. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (62:3-14)). Gray and Allard had a longstanding friendship; they were partners in the ownership of a race horse, played golf together, and socialized on a regular basis. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (62:15-64:8)).

C. The Parties Negotiated and Agreed Upon the Terms of Gray's Compensation

1. In January and February of 2004, Gray and Tri-Way had Numerous Discussions Regarding the Possibility of Gray Joining with Tri-Way.

In January of 2004, Gray began to consider leaving Albertsons. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (61)). During January of 2004, Gray and Allard had several discussions regarding Gray joining with Tri-Way. In particular, they discussed the prospect of Gray starting up and running a division of Tri-Way in Arizona. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (68:1-21)).

By February of 2004, the discussions regarding Gray joining with Tri-Way had progressed to the point that Gray, Allard and Gary Peterson decided to meet in person in the Tri-Cities area in Washington. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (68:1-21)). At the February meeting in the Tri-Cities ("Tri-Cities Meeting"), Gray, Allard and Peterson discussed various arrangements by which Gray would relocated to Arizona in order to start up and run a construction services entity affiliated with Tri-Way. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (70:23-71:6)).

At the Tri-Cities Meeting, Allard, Gary Peterson, and Gray determined that it would be preferable to have Gray run a division of Tri-Way, rather than set up a new corporate entity. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (73:3-74:13)). Further, Gary Peterson suggested that Gray could eventually purchase Peterson's ownership interest in Tri-Way. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (73:3-74:13)). After the Tri-Cities Meeting, discussions focused on Gray running a division of Tri-Way and buying out Peterson's interest in Tri-Way. (*Id.*)

2. Gray's Discussions with Tri-Way Continued in March and April of 2004.

During discussions, including but not limited to discussions taking place in March 2004 and in April 2004, and in telephone conversations, Gray, Allard and Gary Peterson, discussed and agreed to the terms of Gray's compensation. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (76:4-15; 81:4-24; 93:7-96:16); Exhibit 4 (¶ 13, 14, 18)). Specifically, the three agreed that Gray would get paid \$4,000 per month during the 2004, \$10,000 per month during 2005, and would receive 50% of the net profits, before taxes, generated by projects managed by Gray. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (93:7-96:16; 179:19-180:6); Exhibit 4 (¶ 13, 14, 18)). With the terms of compensation set, Gray resigned from Albertsons in early May of 2004. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (93:7-13)).

3. Tri-Way and Gray Reiterated Terms of Profit Sharing During the May 21 Meeting.

Allard, Gary Peterson, Kathy Peterson, and Gray agreed to meet in Vancouver on May 21, 2004. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (108:6-17)). Prior to the May 21 Meeting, Gray forwarded copies of a written agreement ("May Agreement"), prepared by his attorney, which reflected the previously agreed upon terms of Gray's compensation. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (Gray Depos. Ex. 6)). The parties had taken the May Agreement to the May 21 Meeting. (*Id.*)

In relevant part, the May Agreement states:

Section 2.1. Position. Employee will be responsible for establishing an office or division of the Employer to be located in the Phoenix, Arizona area. The Arizona division or office, may also conduct business for the Employer in Nevada, Utah, Arizona and New Mexico. For purposes of this Agreement, the Arizona division shall also include all projects of the Employer which the Employee is managing.

* * *

Section 4.1. Initial Base Salary. The Employee shall be paid a salary of Four Thousand Dollars (\$4,000.00) per month for the remainder of 2004. For 2005, the Employee salary shall be the sum of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) per month.

* * *

Section 4.3. Incentive of Bonus Pay. The Employee shall receive an annual bonus of fifty percent (50%) of the net profit, before taxes, of the Employer, such net profit to be calculated only for the Arizona division of the Employer. The net profit of the Arizona division of the Employer shall be calculated using standard, normal and reasonable accounting and allocation factors commonly used in the construction industry, as determined by the Employer in conjunction with its independent accountant or certified public accountant. Bonus payments, if any, shall be made at least annually, but may be made on a more frequent basis as determined by the Employer.

(Exhibit 2, Ex. A (Gray Depos. Exhibit 6)).

At the May 21 Meeting, Gray met with Allard, Gary Peterson, and Kathy Peterson. The parties discussed adding a non-compete provision to a final written agreement. Gray indicated that he did not object to a non-compete provision, but that Tri-Way should have its attorney draft such a provision for Gray's review. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (104:12-105:9)). Allard and Peterson stated that Tri-Way's counsel would make the agreed upon changes to the employment agreement. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (213-214) ("The June 4 version of the agreement was prepared by defendants' counsel.")).

Allard, Gary Peterson, and Kathy Peterson represented to Gray that they had agreement on all material terms, subject to the reduction of his post-December base salary to \$8,000 per month, regarding his employment with Tri-Way, including the terms of Gray's bonus.³ (Exhibit

³ The parties had agreed that he would receive profit sharing compensation, based upon 50% of the Arizona net profits. (Exhibit 4, (¶ 12-13); (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (84:24-86:9)).

4, (¶¶ 11-15); Exhibit 7, (¶¶ 2-4); Exhibit 2, Ex. A, (84:15-85:25; 86:1-12, 98:14-99:23; 100:25-104:11; 106:1-11; 187:19-188:7; 216:25-217:18)).

Gray "penciled in changes" onto the employment agreement at the May 21 Meeting. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (106:18-107:7)). The document with Gray's "penciled in changes" was then forwarded to Tri-Way's attorney who then incorporated a non-compete into the agreement. That was then forwarded on to Gray who signed the agreement. (*Id.*) As a result of the May 21 Meeting, Gray went to work for Tri-Way based on the compensation terms of the agreement that he had in his hands pursuant to the handwritten changes upon which the group had agreed. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (106:1-107:1)).

D. The Terms of Gray's Compensation and Profit Sharing are Set Prior to His Employment on June 1.

Allard and Peterson assured Gray that an agreement was in place. (Exhibit 4 (¶¶12-14, 18)⁴ They indicated that a revised version of the employment agreement would be signed. *Id.*

E. In June, Gray Begins Working on Behalf of Tri-Way.

1. Gray Brought in and Managed Two Projects for the Arizona Division.

During the first week in June of 2004, Gray went to Phoenix and began working as the General Manager of the Arizona Division of Tri-Way. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A, (108:21-23; 246:14-17); Exhibit 2, Ex. B (286:14-23, 289:19-24, 303:4-11)). Soon after joining Tri-Way, Gray brought in and managed two significant projects to Tri-Way that resulted in significant revenue for Tri-Way. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (62:10-63:7; 286:14-23)).

⁴ While disputing a specific agreement, Allard and Peterson admit that they never told Gray that he would not receive any profit sharing for his efforts on behalf of Tri-Way. (Exhibit 8, Ex. 6 (152:1-12). Peterson never told Gray "anything like" Tri-Way is "never going to give you 50% of the profits." (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (213:7-12)).

According to Gary Peterson, the gross revenues for Gray's projects were \$960,000 and \$215,000. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (81:5-81:11)). Further, based upon Tri-Way's net income statement, the Arizona division for Tri-Way generated \$966,074 in net revenue and \$271,792.48 in net profits from June 2004 to September 30, 2004. (Exhibit 8, Ex. F (Deposition Ex. 2 to Kathy Peterson)).

2. Tri-Way's Attorney Modified the Employment Agreement in Accordance with the Agreement Reached During the May 21 Meeting.

As promised, in early June 2004, Tri-Way's attorney did revise twice, a written agreement to reflect the additional terms that had been agreed upon at the May 21 Meeting. The employment agreement, as revised by Tri-Way's attorney, was circulated to Gray shortly after Gray began working at Tri-Way in early June. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (213-214). The version of the written agreement prepared by Tri-Way's attorney (Hoefel) incorporated the modification that had been agreed upon at the May 21 meeting. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (190:25-191:25; 120:25-122:11)).

In relevant part the written agreement as revised by Tri-Way's attorney on June 4 and June 10, 2004, made no modification to Section 2.1 and modified Sections 4.1 and 4.3 as follows:

Section 4.1. Initial Base Salary. The Employee shall be paid a salary of Four Thousand Dollars (\$4,000.00) per month for the remainder of 2004. From December 1, 2004, through June 1, 2005, the Employee salary shall be the sum of Eight Thousand Dollars (\$8,000.00) per month.

Section 4.3. Incentive or Bonus Pay. The Employee shall receive an annual bonus of fifty percent (50%) of the net profit, *pro-rated beginning June 1, 2004*, before taxes of the Employer, such net profit to be calculated only for the Arizona division of the Employer, *on a calendar year basis*. The net profit of the Arizona

division of the Employer shall be calculated using standard, normal and reasonable accounting and allocation factors commonly used in the construction industry, as determined by the Employer in conjunction with its independent accountant or certified public accountant. Bonus payments, if any, shall be made at least annually, but may be made on a more frequent basis as determined by the Employer.

(Exhibit 2, Ex. A (Gray depos. Ex. 8, 9) (italics in original).

F. In September of 2004, Tri-Way Indicates that It is Unwilling to Live Up to Its Agreement Regarding Gray's Compensation.

In September 2004, three months into Gray's employment and after receiving significant revenue from Gray's projects, Gary Peterson wanted to modify Gray's profit sharing arrangement. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (86:1-12; 124:12-126:24; 216:1-3, 216:15-217:18, 229:9-231:1); Exhibit 4 (¶ 16)).

However, when Gray put his understanding of Peterson's proposed modification in writing, Peterson disclaimed Gray's understanding of the proposed modification. Gray came to understand that Peterson was attempting to modify the terms in a way that was disadvantageous to Gray and it became clear that Peterson would not live up to terms agreed to on May 21, 2004, and memorialized in the June 4 draft from Tri-Way's counsel.⁵

G. Peterson Rejects the Buy Out Proposal and Gray Quits.

Late in September 2004, Allard, Gray and Peterson met in person, in Auburn, to further discuss Peterson's modification. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (127:24-129:5)). After Peterson left the meeting, Gray and Allard began discussions immediately buying out Peterson. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (129:22-130:13)). The conversations between Allard and Gray culminated in early October

APPELLANT'S BRIEF - 11

⁵ (Exhibit 4, ¶¶ 11-13, 15)); Exhibit 2, Ex. A (126:7-128:7, 216:24-217:18).

when Allard and Gray made an offer to buy out Peterson. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (129:24-131:14)). Peterson countered Allard and Gray's buy out proposal with a demand for more money. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A, (131:7-132:12)). Neither Gray nor Allard could afford Peterson's terms, so Gray sent a letter of resignation. (Exhibit 2, Ex. A (132:13-20; 259:22-260:4)).

H. Gray's Efforts Significantly Enriched Tri-Way.

1. The Arizona Division Generated Significant Profits.

In 2003, Tri-Way did not make a profit. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (54:12-15)) (loss of \$42,000 for 2003). In 2004, Gray's projects were successful, profitable projects for Tri-Way. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (221:19-24)). In 2004, gross profits (revenues minus cost of goods sold) from the Arizona Division were \$336,000 (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (81:5-11; 83:9-12; 96:15-19)). (Gross revenues from the Tooele Project were \$960,000 and about \$215,000 for the Juanita project.)

Peterson testified that, even after burdening the Arizona Division with a third of all administrative costs and with owners' salaries, the Arizona Division achieved a net profit of \$178,000 in 2004. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (97:6-99:2)). In contrast, the Auburn Division of Tri-Way lost \$50,000 and the Vancouver Division had a net profit of only \$40,000. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (99:3-14)). Tri-Way admits that it would not have gotten the revenue if Gray had not joined Tri-Way. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (220:10-15)).

Tri-Way did not make any profit sharing payments to Gray. All of the profits were kept by Tri-Way, Allard and Peterson. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B, (319:8-319:19) (recognizing that the profits from the Albertsons work Gray brought to the company stayed in Tri-Way); Exhibit 4, (¶ 5)).

2. Value of Gray's Services.

Tri-Way concedes that it thought Gray would be entitled to some profit sharing compensation for his efforts; the only factual dispute between the parties is the form of profit sharing that Gray should receive. (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (116:13-118:15); Exhibit 2, Ex. B (132:14-133:15; 135:1-136:2) (stating that he "was never not in agreement for the 50 percent")) (Exhibit 2, Ex. B (135:1-136:2) (testifying that Tri-Way would have paid gray 50% of profits after tax if a portion were kept in retained earnings).. As Gary Peterson testified:

Q. In June of 2004, did you, Gary Peterson, believe that Rob Gray was entitled t receive bonuses equal to the net profit of the Phoenix division -50 percent, excuse me, of the net profits of the Phoenix division?

A. In what form?

Q. In payment.

A. In what form?

Q. In any form.

A. Yes.

(Exhibit 2, Ex. B 116:13-117:5) (Peterson just believed that Gray could not take out all of

the money in cash right away.)

Gary Peterson testified further as follows:

Q. Okay. Well, were you in agreement with Mr. Allard that you should pay him 50 percent?

MR. MURRAY: Objection.

THE WITNESS: I was never not in agreement for the 50 percent.

(Exhibit 2, Ex. B (134:4-15)).

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