UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-17-2008

Gray v. Tri-Way Constr. Servs. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 34666

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

C. The Statute of Frauds Was Correctly Applied by the District Court.

To the extent that plaintiff has inferred that the district court improperly considered the statute of frauds analysis (*see* Appellant's Brief 3), even when the statute of frauds is not pled as an affirmative defense it may nonetheless be tried with the express or implied consent of the plaintiff. *See Rowley v. Fuhrman*, 133 Idaho 105, 108, 982 P.2d 940, 943 (1999). Here, at the summary judgment hearing the district court inquired whether or not the doctrine applied, and plaintiff's counsel not only did not object, but himself requested leave to submit additional briefing on the issue. R. at 66. Given that request, the district court correctly noted that where the defense was raised before trial and the party was given time to present argument in opposition, the defense of statute of frauds can be raised for the first time in the summary judgment proceedings. R. at 93, n.6, citing *Bluestone v. Mathewson*, 103 Idaho 453, 649 P.2d 1209 (1982). Accordingly, the issue of whether the statute of frauds applied was properly considered by the district court.

1. There was never an agreement with respect to compensation, whether it was to be paid within one year, or five years.

Plaintiff's primary argument on appeal with respect to the statute of frauds is that it does not apply to the facts and circumstances of this case, because "he is not seeking compensation from Tri-Way for employment going forward . . . [but] is only seeking to recover under the agreed upon bonus structure for the time that he worked at Tri-Way." Appellant's Brief 21. This argument improperly and inaccurately assumes that an enforceable agreement had been reached with respect to the alleged bonus structure. Furthermore, this claim is contrary to the record and the pleadings on file. According to the First Amended Complaint, the operative

pleading on which summary judgment was granted, plaintiff is seeking, *inter alia*: "past and future loss of income," including income that he "would have received in merit and longevity wage increases" (R. at 35); "past and future suffering" (R. at 36); "past and future losses of income which Robert Gray would ordinarily have received" (R. at 36); "any future damages as may be proven" (R. at 36); as well as attorney fees based upon the contract claims he has continuously pursued (R. at 36.) Thus, the unenforceability of the entire Draft Employment Agreement is still squarely at issue in this case, and both the statute of frauds and controlling case law interpreting that statute preclude enforcement of *any* of the proposed terms.

Whether the "agreement" was written or oral, and whether or not it could be performed in one year, plaintiff has failed to present admissible evidence that an agreement was ever actually formed. As with his earlier arguments, Mr. Gray relies exclusively upon his own affidavit and selected portions of his deposition testimony, insisting that certain terms had been settled. However, other portions of his testimony clearly indicate a shared intent among the parties to reduce the terms of Mr. Gray's employment to a "comprehensive written agreement." Moreover, there is ample evidence in the record that the parties never reached a final agreement with respect to the material terms of the employment relationship, most notably the terms governing compensation. Because Mr. Gray is relying solely upon self-serving, conclusory assertions that an agreement had been reached, which testimony is not premised upon—and is indeed directly contrary to—the overwhelming weight of the record evidence, there is but one inference which may reasonably be drawn: that no agreement was ever reached with respect to

the proposed bonus structure. In the absence of an agreement, the issue of whether any such alleged agreement was subject to the statute of frauds is moot.

2. The doctrine of equitable estoppel does not operate as an exclusion to the statute of frauds in this case.

Mr. Gray further argues that, even if the statute of frauds were found to apply to

his alleged agreement, because he was allowed to begin working for Tri-Way, there has been

sufficient "part performance" to invoke an exception to the statute. Appellant's Brief 23. It

should be noted that the *only* exception to the statute of frauds being argued by plaintiff on

appeal is the doctrine of part performance. As such, any additional claimed exceptions have

been waived. See Rowley v. Fuhrman, 133 Idaho 105, 108, 983 P.2d 940, 943 (1999) ("f]ailure

to ... address [an] issue in the opening brief eliminates consideration of it on appeal").

Regarding the part performance exception to the statute of frauds, the Court of

Appeals of Idaho stated:

We acknowledge that in some circumstances an oral agreement may be removed from the strictures of the statute of frauds by part or full performance. This exception to the statute of frauds is grounded in equity. The exception protects a party who demonstrates reliance upon an oral contract by acts that would not have been done but for the contract...

Wolske Bros., Inc. v. Hudspeth Sawmill Co., 116 Idaho 714, 715-16, 779 P.2d 28, 29-30 (Ct. App. 1989).

Despite this recognized exception, it is not universally applied and, indeed, the exception based on part performance has no application here. Following *Wolske*, the Idaho Court of Appeals adopted the following premise:

First, it has long been established in Idaho law that *the doctrine of part performance is not applicable to a contract which comes within the statute of frauds because it cannot be performed within one year*. Allen, 84 Idaho at 23, 367 P.2d at 582. "The mere part performance of such a contract does not take it out of the operation of the statute or permit a recovery under the contract for any part of the contract remaining executory.... [T]o hold that part performance is performance *would be a nullification of the statute.*" *Id*.

Treasure Valley Gastroenterology Specialists, P.A. v. Woods, 135 Idaho 485, 489, 20 P.3d 21

(Ct. App. 2001) (emphasis added).

It is also well-settled under Idaho law that the doctrine of part performance "is

best understood as a specific form of the more general principle of equitable estoppel."

Lettunich v. Key Bank Nat'l Ass'n, 141 Idaho 362, 368, 109 P.3d 1104, 1110 (2005).

Accordingly, the district court properly recognized that plaintiff's claimed part performance

exception to the statute of frauds depends upon whether the part performance was such as to

equitably estop defendants from relying upon the statute as a defense, and ultimately found that it

did not. R., p. 94, L. 26 – p. 95, L. 2.

The elements of equitable estoppel are:

1) there must be a false representation or concealment of a material fact made with actual or constructive knowledge of the truth;

2) the party asserting estoppel did not and could not have discovered the truth;

3) there was intent that the misrepresentation be relied upon; and

4) the party asserting estoppel relied upon the misrepresentation or concealment to his or her prejudice.

Sorensen v. Saint Al's, 141 Idaho 754, 759, 118 P.3d 86, 91 (2005).

Additional considerations also apply when part performance/equitable estoppel is raised within the context of the statute of frauds. For instance, the Idaho Court of Appeals has held on multiple occasions that "the reliance by the party claiming estoppel must be referable only to the contractual term that is in dispute." *Treasure Valley*, 135 Idaho at 491. In other words, "the performance must evidence the promise." *Frantz v. Parke*, 111 Idaho 1005, 1010, 729 P.2d 1069, 1073 (Ct. App. 1986).

Despite plaintiff's argument to the contrary, the facts of this case are substantially similar to those presented in the *Treasure Valley* case. First, Mr. Gray argues that he began his employment because, in his mind, he and Tri-Way had reached an agreement. Treasure Valley Gastroenterology had taken the same position in seeking to enforce terms which it felt had been agreed upon as well. Further, while Mr. Gray began work on June 1, he knew at that time that the final terms of his employment agreement were still under negotiation, and had not been finalized. The defendant in the *Treasure Valley* case had a similar understanding; namely, that she had been allowed to "begin work without agreement on all the terms of the employment in the expectation that the details of the contract would be worked out later." *Treasure Valley*, 135 Idaho at 491. There, the court held that "Treasure Valley's acts of reliance do not provide evidence of the contractual term asserted by Treasure Valley which, when combined with the other elements of equitable estoppel, could serve as a substitute for the writing that is otherwise required by the statute of frauds." *Id.* As a result, the court of appeals upheld the district court's grant of summary judgment.

The same result should apply here. Simply put, plaintiff's performance may have been referable to a portion of the terms contained in the Draft contracts, but the parties' continuing negotiations demonstrate that other material terms—including the disputed term upon which plaintiff relies in this case, i.e., compensation—were not final. Thus, while it may be said that an employment relationship existed between Mr. Gray and Tri-Way, the material terms of that relationship were never settled. This Court has clearly held that before an alleged oral agreement will be enforced by the doctrine of equitable estoppel, the alleged agreement "must be complete, definite and certain *in all its material terms*, or contain provisions which are capable themselves of being reduced to certainty." *Lettunich*, 141 Idaho at 367 (emphasis added).

The undisputed evidence in this case shows that there were yet material terms under negotiation which were not "complete, definite and certain." As such, neither part performance nor equitable estoppel may be used as an exception to the statute of frauds and its requirement that the Draft Employment Agreement be reduced to a final, executed writing.

D. Absent Evidence of an Agreement Establishing the Method of Calculation and/or Means of Payment of the Alleged Bonus, There Is No Basis for the Statutory Wage Claim.

In his appellate brief, Mr. Gray argues that he introduced "evidence that the parties agreed to the terms of his bonus compensation." Appellant's Brief 24. The only argument presented in this respect, however, is a reference back to his earlier argument that the district court failed to construe certain facts in his favor; namely, the "facts" set forth in his affidavit (R. at Ex. 4), and selected deposition testimony. As shown above, the "facts" upon which plaintiff relied were conclusory, contrary to the record evidence and otherwise

inadmissible, and there was simply no competent evidence demonstrating that the parties had ever agreed to the terms of any bonus for plaintiff. Defendants, on the other hand, presented evidence in support of their motion for summary judgment establishing that even though the terms for calculation and payment of the bonus were never settled, plaintiff was nonetheless offered a substantial bonus amounting to three times the salary he had earned in the course of his employment with Tri-Way.

Idaho's wage and hour law defines a "wage claim" as an employee's claim against his or her employer for compensation owed to the employee for "personal services" and includes in that definition any "wages, penalties, or damages provided by law to employees with a claim for unpaid wages." IDAHO CODE § 45-601(6) (2006). The term "wages" is also defined to include "compensation for labor or services rendered by an employee, whether the amount is determined on a time, task, piece or commission basis." IDAHO CODE § 45-601(7). The definition of "wage" has been held to include any "ascertainable unpaid commissions and *bargained-for* compensation." *Moore v. Omnicare, Inc.*, 141 Idaho 809, 819, 118 P.3d 141 (2005) (emphasis added).

This Court has previously concluded that a "claim for an employee bonus, which was calculated by reference to the net profit of the defendant company and paid yearly, was part of the compensation bargained for in the agreement of employment." *Johnson v. Allied Stores Corp.*, 106 Idaho 363, 367, 679 P.2d 640 (1984). As set forth in extensive detail above, however, the primary point of contention in the parties' negotiation of an employment agreement in this case was the method of calculation and means of payment of such a bonus. Accordingly,

there was never a "bargained for" agreement on the bonus to be paid in this matter. Plaintiff instead resigned his employment with defendants before any agreement could be reached. *See* Gray Depo. Ex. 22A. Nevertheless, defendants still tendered a bonus to plaintiff in recognition of his contribution to the company, offering him \$60,000 upon his resignation in November 2004. *See* Peterson Depo., pp. 237-238. Plaintiff simply rejected that payment.

Plaintiff argues that defendants violated the Wage Claim Act because he was not provided with a bonus according to the terms that he had been negotiating. The Johnson case cited above, however, refers to compensation that was "bargained for" in the parties' employment agreement. Because no bargain was reached here, it is impossible to argue that plaintiff is entitled to a bonus to be paid in accordance with the disputed terms. The fact remains, and is undisputed, that plaintiff was offered a bonus payment. Furthermore, that bonus payment was significantly larger than any bonus previously offered by Tri-Way, either to its employees or its owners. For example, defendant Gary Peterson testified that when bonuses had been offered in the past, they were in an amount equal to two weeks' pay, "across the board." See Peterson Depo., pp. 52, 56. The bonus offered plaintiff, however, was in an amount three times greater than the salary he had earned in his five months of employment with Tri-Way. Yet plaintiff refused this amount, and instead continued to insist on not only fifty percent of Tri-Way's gross profits, but also an additional twenty-five percent of those profits in a retained earnings account which would go toward his planned buyout of Gary Peterson, despite the operative fact that no bonus had been fully and finally "bargained for." See Gray Depo., pp. 222-223, 235; Gray Depo., Exs. 14, 15.

Plaintiff has failed, both below and on appeal, to establish any evidence that an agreement had been reached concerning payment of any bonus. For the reasons described in the preceding sections, as well as those herein, the district court properly determined that there was no violation of the wage claim statute, and the grant of summary judgment should be affirmed.

E. Plaintiff Has Not Established the Elements Necessary To Support a Claim for Quantum Meruit.

In attempting to resuscitate his quantum meruit claim, plaintiff argues that "absent an agreement fixing compensation, any evidence tending to show the reasonable value of services is generally admissible." Appellant's Brief 26. He then argues that "evidence of the value of Gray's services can be found with reference to the benefit achieved by Tri-Way." *Id.*

The doctrine of quantum meruit is, as the district court found, a remedy for an implied in fact contract, and it permits a party to recover the reasonable value of services rendered or materials provided, on the basis of an implied promise to pay. *Cheung v. Pena*, 143 Idaho 30, 35, 137 P.3d 417, 422 (2006). An implied in fact contract is further defined as "one where the terms and existence of the contract are manifested by the conduct of the parties with the request of one party and the performance by the other often being inferred from the circumstances attending the performance." *Fox v. Mountain W. Elec., Inc.*, 137 Idaho 703, 708, 52 P.3d 848, 853 (2002). When seeking to establish a claim for quantum meruit, the burden is on the party claiming its applicability. *Erickson v. Flynn*, 138 Idaho 430, 435, 64 P.3d 959, 964 (Ct. App. 2002). In addition, the measure of damages must be proven by evidence demonstrating the nature of the work, and the customary rate of pay for such work in the

community at the time the work was performed. See Baker v. Boren, 129 Idaho 885, 894, 934 P.2d 951, 960 (Ct. App. 1997).

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